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Photos around Westborough Country Club in 1928
Framed collage created by Robert Niver Pfeffer (8/26/1923 - 10/5/2001), son of Walter

Pfeffer, Sr., and generously gifted to Westborough by Walter L. Pfeffer, II, Robert's son.1



April 30, 2023​

Dear Fellow Westborough Members, Families, and Friends:​​

Welcome to the second installment in our e-publication A Diamond in the Rough:
Westborough’s Rich & Resilient History.  In this installment, we begin as the calendar
changes from 1927 to 1928.  Westwood is leaving for its new location, and Westborough is
born at the “Glendale” site.  For a decade thereafter, Westborough would make its mark as
one of the area’s premier clubs, with its president, Walter Pfeffer, Sr., leading the
improvement of leisure facilities and even expanding the Club’s dining and dancing
operations to a ballroom at the Chase Hotel.  However, Westborough suffered a
devastating setback during this period with its historic “Bridge/Myers” mansion clubhouse
and adjacent buildings destroyed by fire.  At that point, it would have been easy for Pfeffer
and his ownership group to take the insurance proceeds and sell or subdivide the
property.  Instead, like the proverbial Phoenix rising from the ashes, Pfeffer wasted no time
designing and building new clubhouse facilities that were, in his view, better suited to the
leisure activities at that time, and even before those new facilities were completed, was
able to announce full club membership.  ​

As you read this installment it is important to keep in mind the local, national, and
international circumstances of the time:  the stock market crash of 1929, the Great
Depression, FDR’s New Deal, and political crises that set the stage for a second world war.
Imagine the courage, effort, creativity, and certainly luck that was necessary to navigate
Westborough through those treacherous waters.  Thankfully, for all of us today, Pfeffer and
his team pulled Westborough through the 1930s.   They will face additional challenges in
the 1940s, which will be the subject of our third installment. ​

Enjoy!​

Hannah Rowland
Communications Manager

Rachel Barr
Membership & Marketing Director

Foreword

Jim Capek
General Manager
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Ted Zimmermann
Club Historian



A full membership of 1,000 was
obtained by Westborough and
membership was closed with a
lengthy waiting list. 

June 29, 1928

After claiming official ownership
of the former Westwood property
on July 1, 1928, Westborough hosts
a grand opening on July 4th.

July 4, 1928

March 19, 1928

Westborough is admitted
into the  St. Louis District
Golf Association. 

Members of the newly
established Westborough
Country Club get the first chance
to inspect their new facilities.

March 1928

TIMELINE
BUILDING THE
FOUNDATION
1928 - 1939
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Nov. 26, 1933

July 1937

Walter Pfeffer, Sr. playing
tennis in 1939.

A fire destroys Westborough's
Bridge/Myers clubhouse mansion
and adjacent buildings.

Pfeffer announces
Westborough's intention
to add tennis to the
Club's activities and
hires A. B. Lynn as
Chairman of the
Westborough Tennis
Committee. 

Pfeffer begins working with a real
estate developer to build an apartment
complex with 96 units onto the
property. After receiving much
resistance, he abandons the project and
continues to operate Westborough as a
private country club, advertising
membership to local neighbors.

1938

June 1934

Pfeffer calls a meeting of
Westborough "active
supporters" to detail plans for
a new clubhouse. The new
building was expected be
ready in June and to cost
$40,000.

Westborough hosts a formal
opening of their new clubhouse
and facilities with a dinner dance
on its new terrace gardens.

Jan. 1934
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Undoubtedly, these factors played an important role in the decision of
Walter Pfeffer, Sr. and the other members of his ownership group to
purchase the Westwood property and continue to run it as a country
club. The new club would hold a different membership and structure
than the traditional one used by Westwood. Their new structure would
be a hybrid membership, combining a modest annual fee with pay-as-
you-play or daily fees.  However, the looming threats of redevelopment
and subdivision remained, as shown by reporting in Golfdom magazine
saying that Westborough “would be operated on an interesting
combination membership and daily fee basis until the inevitable
subdivider steps in.”​

This hybrid structure may have been unique in St. Louis, but according to
Pfeffer, was quite common elsewhere.  He claimed that, at the time, the
Chicago-area had 50 or more clubs using that very structure.  In fact,
Westwood, in its advertisement of the Glendale property, while noting
that it’s property was “wonderful for subdivision," also suggested that the
location was ideally suited to a “PAY-AS-YOU-ENTER GOLF CLUB."
Westwood’s suggestion of the very type of unique club that Pfeffer’s
group created, along with Westwood’s assistance in financing the sale
and participation in the new club’s governance (see information about
Henry R. Weisels on page 11), demonstrates how influential Westwood
was in preserving the property for golf.

SETTING THE STAGE
The 1910s and 1920s were an era of
tremendous growth in golf in our
country, with over a million
Americans playing on public and
private courses.  People had more
money in their pockets thanks to
industrialization, and this wealth and
an increase in leisure time led to a
rapid rise in the number of country
clubs throughout the 1920s.  In fact,
by the time Westwood listed its
Glendale property for sale in April
1927, there were actually three
country clubs within roughly a mile of
one another:  Algonquin GC,
Kirkwood CC (later named Woodlawn
CC), and Westwood CC. Also at that
time, the area surrounding ​

Westwood was experiencing
significant residential growth and,
as such, it would have been no
surprise had the grounds been sold
to a real estate developer for
subdivision into single-family
homes or other forms of housing.
However, because the interest in
golf continued to grow rapidly in
the late 1920’s, demand for country
clubs remained high.  This period
was part of what is now called the
“Golden Age of Golf," with courses
being designed by many of the
most prominent course architects
in golf history and many iconic
professional and amateur golfers
performing at the top of their game.
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WESTBOROUGH PAY-AS-YOU-PLAY

$30 per year

$1 weekdays

$2 weekends
& holidays 

50-cent tennis

50-cent swimming
25-cent handball,
horseshoes &
archery

Whip and Spur | June 1930

Golfdom | July 1928



In December 1927 and February 1928,
when announcing the purchase of
the Westwood property and
introducing the new Westborough
Country Club, Pfeffer laid out his plan
for $75,000 in improvements and a
Club opening of July 1, 1928.  

April 21, 1933, scene on the 16th green of  Westborough. Archers shoot at targets placed at the edge of the green for their “putts," with a
bulls-eye counting as one putt, first circle as two putts, and second circle as three putts.

His ambitious plans also included
athletic classes with specialized
instructors for swimming and life-
saving, tennis, volleyball, handball,
archery, horseshoe pitching, and
quoits. To accomplish his plans,
Pfeffer hired Washington University
football star Elwin Comstock as
Westborough’s director of athletics.
Comstock would be in charge of
swimming, boxing, and track. Pfeffer
also knew how important a
prominent golf professional would be
so he hired Charley Held, whose twin
brother Eddie was then one of the top
amateur golfers in the country and is
recognized as one of the best golfers
ever in the St. Louis District. 

According to news reports, Charley
had been a pro since 1920 and “was
considered by many to be the equal
of his twin brother.” Another brother,
Bill Held, was hired as Charley’s
assistant.​
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WESTBOROUGH 
JUNIOR SPORTS ADS

THEN

NOW

Quoits?​ Think ring toss!
Competitors pitch metal, rope,
or rubber rings, aiming to land 
them over a spike in their 
opponents' pit.

The New-Times | May 22, 1926

Globe-Democrat | Feb. 12, 1928



SO, WHO WAS 



Walter Louis Pfeffer, Sr. was born in Lebanon, IL on June 22,
1888.  He attended nearby McKendree College and then the
University of Mississippi Law School.  In June 1913, Pfeffer
married Margaret Niver (1888-1936), and by 1920, the couple had
moved to 240 Rosemont Avenue in Webster.  He and Margaret
had three children:  Juel Suzanne Pfeffer (1915-1985), Walter
Louis Pfeffer, Jr. (1917-1944), and Robert Niver Pfeffer (1923-2001).​

WALTER
PFEFFER?

By the 1920s, Pfeffer headed a furniture jobbing business and
was also a highly-regarded figure in the golf communities in St.
Louis, throughout the Midwest, and even at the national level.
Pfeffer was a member of Algonquin GC where he had been
chairman of the greens committee, was Vice-President (and later
President) of the St. Louis District Golf Association, a member of
the boards of the Trans-Mississippi Golf Association and Missouri
Golf Association, a member of the advisory board of the U.S. Golf
Association, and had been recently nominated to be a director of
the Western Golf Association.  He had also been an official
referee in major golf tournaments through both the city and the
District.  

Walter, Margaret, Suzanne, Walter, Jr., and Robert Walter Pfeffer in front of the Westborough Clubhouse7



As seen by the $75,000 worth of
improvements he made upon
acquiring the site, Pfeffer had a
keen sense of the breadth of
leisure activities that would be
needed to operate a country club
in the tumultuous times of the
late 1920s and early 1930s.  ​

He was also entrepreneurial and
quite adventurous. For example,
just after officially launching
Westborough in July 1928, that ​
October he had Joseph Solari, who ran the Solari Guild School of Allied Arts
in Kirkwood, put on a three-day “Gypsy Fair” on the Club grounds. A gypsy
colony descended upon on Westborough with six wagons, tents, and
colorful lighting, and provided gypsy entertainment including fortune
tellers and “wild passionate songs and dances of their race." They served
food from large, iron pots hanging from tripods.  

PFEFFER FAMILY FUN AT THE CLUB
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PFEFFER!

Whip and Spur 1930
Post-Dispatch | December 18, 1932

Star and Times | Sept. 29, 1928

Webster News-Times |  Sept. 28, 1928



PITCH & PUTT
COURSE

One of Pfeffer’s most ingenious endeavors was a “Tom Thumb” golf course on the Westborough grounds launched on
April 26, 1930, where “members may try their skill with niblick and putter.” The nine-hole miniature course had grass
fairways and greens and was illuminated by nine 1,000 watt floodlights to permit play at night. It was located on the
eastern slope of the clubhouse (essentially between the clubhouse and No. 10 fairway). The nine holes were named for
different country clubs in St. Louis:

One of the greens being illuminated for play.
Union Electric Magazine, August 1930

Praise for the new miniature course from
Whip and Spur, May 1930

9 Whip and Spur, June 1930



As an all-around sportsman, Pfeffer enjoyed
horses and held an annual horse show at
Westborough for several years. He also
enjoyed coursing (the “sport of hunting game
animals such as hares with greyhounds using
sight rather than scent”), a hobby that led to a
fun anecdote in Westborough’s history, when,
in December 1931, Pfeffer was stuck with 48
jack rabbits intended for a coursing event “but
arrived too late to be schooled in escaping
from the coursing pen.”

Pfeffer’s first wife, Margaret, passed away in 1936. In
1949, he married Louise Seibert and they remained
married until his passing on May 31, 1956 in Port
Washington, NY, where he had lived for the past
seven years and was a governor of the
Southampton Yacht Club. In the summers from
1953 to 1955, Pfeffer also lived at Shinnecock Hills
Golf Club in NY where he would play golf in the
morning and sail his boat in the afternoon.

 Much more will be written about Pfeffer in this
installment and in future ones, but suffice it to say
that Pfeffer’s influence upon and significance to
the history of St. Louis golf and to Westborough’s
legacy was profound. He saved the property from
subdividers, sustained it through a depression and
world war, and, while almost giving it back to the
real estate developers, in the end helped it stay
true to its origins by helping the members buy the
Club in 1948. 
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Thank you, Mr. Pfeffer!

 Post-Dispatch | Dec. 13, 1931

 Post-Dispatch | Dec. 6, 1931



What's on the

?
Fried Frog Legs

chicken liver

grape pie

conveyance was filed, and on July 1, 1928, Westborough officially took ownership of the former Westwood
property.  A grand opening was held on July 4th. Pfeffer was the Club’s first president, and interestingly, Henry R.
Weisels was the vice-president. You may recall that Weisels was the Westwood CC member and prominent real
estate agent who listed the Westwood property for sale in April 1927.  It was reported that Pfeffer and Weisels had
organized Westborough, and Weisels' position in the new Club further demonstrates the integral role that
Westwood CC leadership and the Jewish community played in establishing, financing, and governing
Westborough, and helping achieve its instant success.  Interestingly, a few years later in 1933, Weisels joined
Richard A. White, former secretary/treasurer of Westborough, to take over Meadow Brook Golf Club and Tavern
and reorganize it as Meadow Brook Country Club.​

Westborough was admitted to the
St. Louis District Golf Association.
On March 19th, members of the
new Westborough Country Club
would get the first chance to
inspect their new facilities,
although Westwood was still
operating out of that location until
Westborough’s formal opening in
July. Westborough’s membership
filled quickly, with over 500
members in February 1928, and 700
by inspection in March.​ As of June
29, 1928, full membership of 1,000
was obtained by Westborough and
membership was closed with a
lengthy waiting list. Also during
that last week of June, the deed of 

In March 1928,

The Club’s first manager was Louis Gund, who had previously managed Glen
Echo CC and was also at Westwood CC for a three year period. Westborough’s
food service operation was highly successful under Gund, registering $90,000
in sales in 1930. His successes were featured in an extensive article in Golfdom
magazine in May 1931, in which he detailed his approach to club management.  
While he was criticized for boasting about his successes because
Westborough was syndicate-owned, not member-owned like most other
country clubs, his accomplishments were certainly noteworthy.​

WESTBOROUGH IS BORN

...oh my!
Aren't you glad we've

changed a few things?!
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Westborough Postcard

Whip and Spur | Jan. 1930

Golfdom | May 1931



12
1928 Membership Brochure
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ON THE WESTBOROUGH

While Gund was managing the social side of the Club, the golf side landed a new
professional in March 1929 when Charley Held left Westborough to run a bowling
alley and 28-year-old long-drive phenom and Triple-A assistant pro Clarence Coff
took over.  He chose his brother, Joe, as his assistant (Joe had been previously
been the caddie master at Algonquin).  Coff was well-known as “the longest
driver in the St. Louis district,” and during his three years as Westborough’s head
pro, he scored a hole-in-one on two different par 4 holes:  October 1929 on 298
yard No. 6 and September 1930 on 355 yard No. 11. He even drove the green on
Westborough’s No. 2 lake-hole which, at the time, was 351 yards – 275 yards from
the tee to the front of the lake and 75 yards to carry the lake to the green.
Interestingly, Coff started playing golf at age 14 and never took lessons. He
caddied at Triple-A “and learned the game by watching good players.”     

During its early years, Westborough quickly made a name for itself
both as a golfing venue and through a number of its highly skilled
golfers (members and professionals) who cemented their place in St.
Louis District golf history.  One of the first was Bryan Winter,  who in
1928 finished second behind Jimmy Manion at the St. Louis District
Championship.  Winter would go on to win that title back-to-back in
1931-32.​

GOLF LINKS

Another historic Westborough
golfer was Chester O’Brien,
winner of back-to-back state
amateur titles in 1933-34 and a
St. Louis District title in 1938.  He
also played in the U.S. Open in
1939, of course as an amateur.
One of Westborough’s most
proud accomplishments of this
era was that in the 1933
Missouri Amateur Tournament
held at Westborough, not only
did O’Brien win the
championship but fellow
member F. H. Schwartz also
won the Senior Class.  

CLARENCE COFF

BRYAN WINTER

CHESTER O'BRIEN
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Whip and Spur 1929

Post-Dispatch | May 27, 1928

Star and Times | May 23, 1939Post-Dispatch | June 18, 1933



Much like Chester O’Brien, Westborough
star golfer Elliott Whitbread was a regular
local champion. He won back-to-back state
amateur championships in 1928-29, was the
top amateur golfer in the District in 1935,
and was champion of the St. Louis District
twice (1930 and 1936). Later in life he was the
Executive Director of the Missouri Golf
Association from 1942-1967 and inducted
into the MGA Hall of Fame in 2006. As a
Westborough member throughout the
1930s and 1940s there will be more to report
on Whitbread in the next installment
(including a noteworthy relationship with a
fella who loved golf named Bing Crosby),
but suffice it to say that he was another in
the group of noteworthy golfers that
roamed our links during this decade.

IN GOOD COMPANY
In the 1933 Missouri Amateur Golf Championship, O'Brien
defeated Sid Salomon, Jr. Mr. Salomon was then known as
one of the finest amateurs in the state, but he may best be
known today for bringing the Blue Note to town! That's
right, Salomon Jr. and Sid Salomon III are the men behind
the origin of our St. Louis Blues! They were awarded Blues
ownership in 1966 and oversaw the early success of the
team, including Stanley Cup Finals appearances in the
team's first three seasons! 

ELLIOTT WHITBREAD

PHOTO FROM
MISSOURI GOLF

ASSOCIATION HALL
OF FAME;

WHITBREAD
INDUCTED 

IN 2006

O'Brien and Salomon, Jr. drawing a crowd on the 16th green at
Westborough.  Post-Dispatch | June 18, 1933

WHITBREAD
DEFEATS JIMMY
MANION IN THE
DISTRICT SEMI-
FINALS IN 1937

16Globe-Democrat | June 18, 1933

Globe-Democrat  | Jan. 30, 1938

Globe-Democrat - June 6, 1937



Orville White replaced Coff
as the Westborough pro in
January 1932, and while his
predecessors Held and
Coff were highly-regarded
golfers, White trumped
them both.  In fact, local
golf legend (and eventual
Westborough professional)
Johnny Manion gave high
praise to White in an
interview after Manion had
played in the 1936 U.S.
Open. Manion was asked
to rank U.S. Open champ
Toney Manero, and Manion
replied saying Manero
wasn't even one of the best
11 golfers at the time. He
said that Henry Picard was
better and one of the best
11. He went on to say, "Next
to Picard I think Harry
Cooper comes, then Gene
Sarazen, Johnny Revolta,
MacDonald Smith, Horton
Smith, Olin Dutra, Tommy
Armour, Walter Hagen,
Byron Nelson, and Orville
White." ​

His first year as
Westborough's pro was
remarkable, and he brought
great notoriety to the Club. 
 In April 1932, White teamed
up with Algonquin GC
legend Roger Lord in a
match against another local
great Chris Kenney, and
more importantly, Ralph
Guldahl, the St. Louis
Country Club professional
and one of the best golfers
in the world. In the mid-
1930s Guldahl was one of
the top names in golf,
winning U.S. Open titles in
1937 and 1938, the Masters in
1939, and three consecutive
Western Opens. White and
Lord bested their
opponents largely due to
White carding a 68 to
Guldahl’s 70. 

ORVILLE 
WHITE

Then, only a few weeks later,
White broke Westborough’s
14-year-old course record by
a whopping four strokes,
shooting a ten-under-par 62!​

White did not stay long at
Westborough, departing in
November 1933 for
Meadowbrook, and a year
thereafter, he left
Meadowbrook for a position
on the East Coast.  White
was succeeded by Harry
Walker, who would guide
Westborough as golf
professional through the rest
of the decade.

GENE FEHLIG
While O’Brien and
Whitbread were starring
in District play, budding
Westborough superstar
Gene Fehlig was making
a name for himself in
junior play during this
era.  Fehlig, who would
win multiple district
titles in the 1960s, set the
Forest Park Municipal
course record in 1937 

with a four-under-par 68.
He would take runner-up
honors in the 1938 District
junior championship, then
win the District title in
1939.  He also won a local
men’s pro-am tourney in
1939 as a junior!  Check
back for more about
Fehlig in future
installments.​

Ad from Golf Illustrated Aug. 1932

Fehlig congratulating winner Louis
Wasson after their 36-hole battle
for the Jr. Championship in 1938.17

Globe-Democrat | May 9, 1932

Globe-Democrat | Apr. 25, 1932

Post-Dispatch | Apr. 25, 1932



During the 1930s, the golf course
remained largely as it was when
Westwood left in 1928.  In fact, in
1931, two holes on Westborough’s
course (No. 2 and No. 12) were
voted in as some of the best 18
holes in the St. Louis District.  No.
2 had the same layout as present
day No. 2 (but was 351 yards at
the time) and No. 12 was present
day No. 13.  The course continued
to draw plenty of tournament
activity, with one unique
tournament using experimental
larger 5¼” cups versus the
standard 4¼” cups due to the
USGA’s new larger and lighter
ball. 

Left: 1937 Aerial photo of Westborough with lines
drawn to show tee and green placements. Note
that 12 and 17 greens may have shared a larger
combined green. Imagery from the St. Louis
County GIS Service Center.

Right: Westborough's holes 2 and 12 make the St.
Louis "All-Star" list in the March 1, 1931, St. Louis
Post-Dispatch.
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Photo on Westborough's par-3  16th green, 
in front of current-day #17 creek.  (April 20, 1932)



 within 6 inches of each
other. If they were more
than 6 inches apart, there
was no provision for
marking the ball nearer the
hole and the player simply
had to play around or over
the interfering ball. Leading
up to the 1952 change, the
USGA modified this Rule in
1938 to allow an interfering
ball within 6 inches of the
hole to be lifted regardless of
the proximity to the other
ball.” Thus, a Stymie gauge is
for the measurement of the
6-inch distance requirement
for “stymies” to help
determine whether a
player’s ball should be
marked. 

A STYMIE? 
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       This Westborough            
 scorecard includes a “Stymie
Gauge." What in the world is a
“Stymie” and why does the card
have that measurement?  ​

Per a 2016 article by Jamie
Wallace, manager of USGA’s
Rules Education and Digital
Content, “The stymie is one of
the most famous, now-extinct
Rules in the Rules of Golf. It was
eliminated worldwide with the
release of the first joint USGA
and R&A Rules that went into
effect in 1952. Prior to this, if one
player’s ball on the putting
green interfered with another
player’s line of putt, the
interfering ball could only be
marked if the two balls were  STYMIE 

MEASUREMENT
JOE COFF 

SIGNATURE

1929SCORECARD

District Father-Son
Champions Jack &
Arthur Peat of WCC​.
Globe-Democrat |
July 11, 1939
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Globe-Democrat | Oct. 13, 1939



WOMEN'S GOLF AT WESTBOROUGH

20

From the founding, Westborough has always been supportive of women and girls in the sport of golf. In a time
when many private clubs were restricted to male access, Westborough women's leagues were gaining traction
each year. In 1930, Walter Pfeffer even instituted a policy which allowed women to play for just 50-cents in
hopes of growing interest in the game!

Whip and Spur June 1930Star and Times | July 1, 1938 Post-Dispatch | Nov. 8, 1931

Globe-Democrat | June 28, 1938

Post-Dispatch | June 11, 1936

Globe-Democrat | June 19, 1935Whip and Spur | Oct. 1930Whip and Spur | Nov. 1929



Pfeffer acquired the stock
ownership of Weisels and his
associates, which sounds simple
enough, but there were subtle
implications in articles about those
events suggesting that Pfeffer’s
view of certain club policies
differed from those of Weisels and
his associates.  Regardless, Pfeffer
continued to make improvements,
including adding a new entrance,
a two-way roadway, and a
complete redecoration of the
clubhouse, adding a lounge and
reception room, and additional
lockers to a total of 1,150 while
installing marble shower baths.  ​

The emphasis on the social side of
the Club prevailed throughout the
1930s, with a wide variety of
activities including Bridge classes,
a Quadrille dancing club, lavish
July 4th celebrations, and the
repurposing of the Club’s barn by
a local theater group called the
Barnstormers, who would perform
in the barn, and after the
performance, guests would dine in
the Westborough clubhouse.​

SOCIAL LIFE AT
WESTBOROUGH

Think a mix of cotillion and
square dancing! The historic
dance is made up of four
couples, with each one
forming a single side of the
square. A fun way to meet
other couples and make new
friends—and apparently very
successful, as this dance dates
all the way back to 1740!

QUADRILLE?
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In late 1929,

Above: The Barnstormers plan their
scenes and prepare for a show. 
Star and Times | Nov. 2, 1936

Star and Times | June 6, 1939

The News-Times | Sept. 2, 1932

Globe-Democrat | May 21, 1933

The News-Times | June 28, 1929

Post-Dispatch | Apr. 29, 1938



Pfeffer made the most of the unique nature of the club membership and ownership
structures, meaning that it wasn’t exclusively private, by offering a wide array of social
activities and effectively utilizing the beautiful pool he built and the surrounding terrace
gardens. The membership structure proved to be quite attractive at first, with the Club at
one point in its first year having 1,670 members, which turned out to be too crowded. The
number was then reduced to only 800 by the end of 1933. His weekly Saturday night
dinner dances regularly brought in 300 people. Over time, the Club would have dining
and dancing nightly during the summer months, which caused an uproar with some of
the neighbors due to the noise. Eventually the events were limited to Saturday nights, but
that didn’t keep the Club from having a lawsuit filed by St. Louis County Prosecuting
Attorney C. Arthur Anderson seeking to enjoin the Club from having its outdoor dinner
dances.  The case was rendered moot as the events were to end shortly after the suit was
filed. However, that wasn’t the only brush with the law that the Club and Pfeffer had
thanks to its “social” activities. In July 1935, sheriff’s deputies confiscated slot machines
from Normandie Golf Club, Creve Coeur Golf Club, and Westborough. No arrests were
made (at least this time – check out what happened in March 1942 when you read
installment #3 next month!).
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SOME THINGS NEVER CHANGE! 

Globe-Democrat | Apr. 4, 1931

St. Louis Accounting Forum dinner dance in Dec 1929 as reported in
Southwestern Telephone News Jan. 1930 Globe-Democrat | July 7. 1934 Post-Dispatch | July 14. 1934

Globe-Democrat | May 31, 1936 Globe-Democrat | Aug. 31, 1935

Globe-Democrat | May 28, 1933



With the success of his summer dining and dancing outdoors at Westborough, Pfeffer found a way to take that
success indoors for the winter. As reported on the website Lost Tables:

Unfortunately, the Westborough Town Club only lasted one season. For reasons that will be explained in the
pages that follow, Westborough did not plan to open its dancing facilities to the public in 1934, and because “a
members-only venue in a public hotel was problematic, Westborough sold its Town Club to the Hotel Chase.”

The [Westborough] Terrace Gardens provided first class entertainment, attracted large
crowds and proved a financial success. It was so successful that the Westborough Country
Club contracted with the Hotel Chase to use their Palm Room as a complimentary winter
venue for their entertainers, with a complimentary name – the Westborough Town Club…
The Westborough Town Club attracted country customers and town customers alike, and
was an immediate success.

23 Star and Times | Jan. 17, 1934



ETHEL PENNEY DINNERS
For several years, Westborough regularly advertised modestly
priced dinners from renowned local chef Ethel Penney, who would
in 1948 publish her book of recipes called The Penney Pantry.
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Post-Dispatch | Sept. 26, 1933

Webster News Times | May 15, 1936



Westborough’s first few years
were certainly noteworthy and by
most accounts successful, in
terms of the Club’s finances,
improvements, and membership.  
In October 1932, Westborough
announced that Mrs. Robert Ross
would assume duties as house
manager.  Mrs. Ross “was well
known among the St. Louis and
County golfers because of her
culinary skill," having for many
years run the dining room at
Midland Valley (Meadowbrook)
and Triple-A. The next month the
Club held its opening with the
clubhouse having been newly
redecorated.  ​

However, as people nationwide
were losing much of their income
and net worth during the Great
Depression, the number of
country clubs dramatically
decreased due to lack of
membership funding. It was said
that total membership declined
78% due to the 1929 stock market
crash and that “[r]oughly one
country club in seven went 

BIG CHANGES ON
THE HORIZON

under between 1929 and 1939
as a result of the Great
Depression, and countless new
and expansion clubhouse and
golf course projects were
canceled.”  Surviving clubs
largely fell on hard times and
had to discount membership
fees and engage in money-
making social activities like
benefit dances.  Due to these
circumstances, Westborough
and the other District country
clubs reduced their fees in
1933.

ONE IN SEVEN

CLUBS CLOSED

BETWEEN 1929-1939

PRICES & MEMBERSHIP
NUMBERS FROM 1933

Then, in late 1933, the
trajectory of Westborough’s
future was forever changed.
On Sunday, November 26,
1933, a spectacular fire
destroyed Westborough’s
clubhouse and adjacent
buildings.  The historic
Bridge/Myers clubhouse
mansion was gone, as were
the dance hall and dining
room on the east wing of the
building, the north wing with
the locker room, and three 

buildings to the west with the
boiler room, caddie and servants
quarters, and golf shop.  Luckily
the stables were saved, including
the horses boarded there.  Mrs.
Ross had noticed a fire in the
boiler room 20 feet west of the
clubhouse around 1:00 p.m. and
phoned the Glendale, Webster
Groves, and Kirkwood fire
department. Three fire
companies from St. Louis also
arrived.  

25 Star  and Times | Nov. 27, 1933

Globe-Democrat | Feb. 12, 1933



​
Water was pumped from the Westborough
lake about 600 feet west of the clubhouse and
hoses were run from distances over 1,000 feet
via fire plugs on both Berry and Lockwood. At
the height of the fire, there were thousands of
people on the Club’s grounds watching flames
shoot over 100 feet into the air. Mr. Ross
gathered about 40 Club employees, including
25 caddies, to retrieve items from the
clubhouse.  When the fire began there were
no Club members on the golf course or in the
clubhouse, but as many members heard the
news and arrived on the scene, they helped
the staff remove items to safety.  

Even members of nearby Algonquin GC pitched in
to help save items from the fire.  Ultimately all
employees were able to get out safely (some did
experience minor burns), and all of the clubhouse
furniture, club records, member property in the
lockers, and most of the golf shop stock was saved.  

Insurance adjusters said that the buildings were
insured and placed the loss at $75,000.  However,
they also said that it would cost well more than
that amount to replace them at current prices.
Pfeffer, who had been away on a hunting trip,
estimated the loss at $125,000.  In January 1934, the
insurance was adjusted to $73,000.  Per the terms
of the mortgage Westborough CC had with
Westwood CC, the insurance proceeds were paid
to Westwood and the deed of trust was then
transferred to First National Bank.

Left: Globe-Democrat | Nov. 27, 1933
Right: Globe-Democrat | Nov. 27, 1933

Post-Dispatch | Nov. 27, 1933
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Pfeffer called a meeting of Westborough “active
supporters” in January 1934 to detail plans for the next
year.  He announced plans were already in motion to
build a new brick clubhouse and that work to clear the
debris had already begun. To build the new clubhouse
in 1934, Pfeffer bought used bricks by the truckload
from a building that had been destroyed by the
infamous 1927 tornado that hit St. Louis. It was
described as a low, rambling, U-shaped white brick
modification of English and Spanish architecture with
men’s locker rooms on one side, women’s on the other,
and a grill in-between. It also would have a kitchen,
lounge and taproom, and a patio filled with gardens
and brick terraces with America's largest outdoor
Terraza dance floor. The existing pool and tennis courts
would remain.​ A new pro shop was built and the golf
course remained open for play after the fire. 

By March, Westborough’s board of governors had reorganized
the Club to be exclusive and announced the success of their
membership drive as the ranks were full and no more
applications would be accepted.  In June, Westborough held the
formal opening of its new facilities with a dinner dance on its new
terrace gardens. ​

Globe-Democrat | Feb. 4, 1934

Handdrawn sketch on new 1934 clubhouse.

Of all the changes throughout the years, this 1935
photo of the Westborough Room proves the

original design to be timeless!

THIS LOOKS FAMILIAR!

Star and Times | June 1, 1937

Post-Dispatch 
June 10, 1934

Gran
d
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Pfeffer outdid himself with the spectacular pool,
tennis courts, and social areas that were part of
the initial $75,000 in improvements in 1928. The
pool was the centerpiece of the summer social
and family activities, with its flamboyant diving
platform (as designed by Margaret Pfeffer) and
beautiful surroundings. This would have been no
surprise to anyone at the time because Pfeffer
himself was a decorated swimmer, having set
the Missouri Athletic Association’s long-distance
swimming record in 1920 when he was also a
member of Algonquin GC.

He also was vocal about the sanitary nature of
the pool which, for the time, was critical to
ensuring that families felt safe at the Club. ​

Not only was the pool key to leisurely enjoyment,
but it was the home of Westborough’s
swimming and diving teams, that were hugely
successful in the St. Louis swim scene during the
1930s. In fact, by 1937, the Westborough swim
team had won the District championship four
times out of five events!

The News-Times | May 31, 1935

Star and Times | June 9, 1033Star and Times | June 15, 1936

Globe-Democrat | March 18, 1928

OPEN 'TIL MIDNIGHT!
IMAGINE THOSE PUDDLE BILLS!
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Whip and Spur | July 1930

Post-Dispatch | June 9, 1933

Post-Dispatch | Aug. 26, 1936

HEAT WAVE!
In June of 1931 much of the midwest was
experiencing a brutal heatwave with temps over 100. 

Records were set for water consumption, and The St. Louis Post-
Dispatch mentioned that 1,500 lbs of ice were placed in the
Westborough swimming pool to cool the water, but even then,
swimmers reported little effect. The same thing was done in 1932.

Post-Dispatch | Aug 7, 1932 Photo from 1932

St. Louis Star and
Times | July 1, 1933

CHECK OUT THAT LOGO!
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ACTIVITIESLeisureNEW

Pfeffer’s passion for tennis was on display in 1937
when he announced Westborough’s intention
to “foster tennis [that] season,” and to that end,
that the Club had hired A. B. Lynn as Chairman
of the Westborough Tennis Committee. Lynn
had for many years held the same position with
the Woodlawn Club. Pfeffer went on to
announce that Westborough had secured the
July 1937 county tennis championship, which
had been held at Woodlawn for the previous 23
years. There would also be a special tennis
membership separate from the Club’s regular
membership classes. Upon completion of the
tournament in July, Pfeffer kindly thanked the
staff of the St. Louis Star and Times for their
coverage of the event.

WHEN IT
ALL BEGAN!

30Walter Pfeffer, Sr. - 1939 Star and Times | July 22, 1937



Stables and horse events were also
part of the Westborough leisure
activities, utilizing facilities that were in
place when Westwood vacated the
Glendale property (see the
advertisement to board horses at
Westborough). Pfeffer took the horse
activities up a notch with a new “arena”
venue created specifically for horse
shows, with a capacity of 2,400
spectators. Pfeffer claimed that the
arena was a duplicate of the one at
Southside Country Club in Chicago.
The first of what were to be annual
horse shows took place in 1933, and the
second (and presumably final) show
was in 1934. Also in 1934, a new
organization was formed called the
Associated Country Club Horse Shows,
which would give a series of horse
shows starting in May at area country
clubs followed by dinner and dancing.
Westborough was a charter member
of this organization along with
Bridlespur Hunt Club, Glen Echo
Country Club, Meadowbrook Country
Club, St. Louis Country Club, Sunset Hill
Country Club, and Westwood Country
Club.
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GIDDY-UP!
Post-Dispatch | July 8, 1933

Star and Times | July 10, 1933

Webster News-Times | July 7, 1933

Webster News-Times | July 7, 1933

Globe -Democrat | June 25, 1934

Post-Dispatch | Oct. 1, 1933



CHANGING TIMES
By the mid-1930s, it was
evident that local clubs were
struggling and Westborough
was no exception. Given its
highly desirable location and
the breadth of leisure facilities
its property offered, the city of
Webster Groves took interest
in Westborough to become
its “rec center." There was to
be a bond issuance, and
competing groups argued for
a newly constructed facility
while others argued loudly
that Westborough was the
straight-forward option, with
all desired facilities already in
place. Since taking over the
property from Westwood,
Westborough had
constructed a swimming
pool, 4 additional tennis
courts, large terrace gardens,

Then, in 1938, Pfeffer began
working with a real estate
developer to put an apartment
complex with 96 units on the
property.  As you would expect,
this effort was met with huge
resistance, especially from
neighboring homeowners. The
project was estimated to cost
$5,000,000.  Pfeffer and the
developers then modified their
plan to instead seek to build
300 1½ story five-room houses
on the property, but in the end,
Pfeffer decided to abandon
the effort and continue to
operate as a private club. He
suggested to those neighbors
who were protesting the
redevelopment that they were
welcome to join for the
$110/year family complete
membership fee or the
$22/year membership fee for
occasional users (who would
pay additional facilities usage
fees).  

a new clubhouse, and locker
rooms. Thankfully for our
current Club members, the
latter group lost the argument.

In 1937, Westborough made
fundamental changes to their
membership and fees
structures, essentially
eliminating the fee-based
structure for a closed
membership and gave
management of the club to its
members.  The members
voted a slate of officers and
embarked on a membership
drive seeking 400 members
at $100 per year.  The new
membership structure would
have no assessments, transfer
fees, stock purchase, nor
additional membership
charges.  ​

Webster News-Times  
Aug. 19, 1938

WHAT COULD
HAVE BEEN...

96
3-STORY

APARTMENTS

300
FIVE-ROOM

HOUSES

32Globe-Democrat | Apr 21, 1936

Webster News-Times  | Jan. 20, 1939



THE 1939 MEMBERSHIP BROCHURE AND INVITATION
THEN, IN 1940...
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We wish special thanks to these individuals and institutions who
helped guide us in our research and provided wonderful images to
help us tell our story and make it more enjoyable for you, our readers.

Walter L. ("Wally") Pfeffer, II, son of Robert Niver Pfeffer and
grandson of Walter L. Pfeffer, Sr. Wally has for many years been
deeply engrossed in researching and sharing his family's rich history
and his contributions to our Club's archives are invaluable. Wally,
thank you so very much for all you've done and continue to do to
help our Club, its members, and friends appreciate our heritage and
the associated legacy of your grandfather. His impact upon our Club
and the greater St. Louis golf, tennis, and swimming communities is
immeasurable.

Deb Hill-Jablonski, President of the Kirkwood Historical Society. Deb
went out of her way on short notice to help research our Club's
history and unearthed several extraordinary relics, especially from
the 1930s, that put into sharp focus the state of the Club during that
era and the challenges it faced in terms of marketing and
membership. 

Lauren Sallwasser, Associate Archivist - Photographs and Prints,
Missouri Historical Society. The MHS is a treasure trove for anyone
performing research projects involving our community. Lauren and
her colleagues generously shared a wealth of country-club specific
information from the 1930s as well as high-resolution imagery of our
Club and its grounds, which answered countless questions about
the evolution of the facilities during that important time in our
history. All St. Louisans are fortunate to have MHS as a resource.
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